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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

Page ID #:1154

aka “Mohamad Shgaire,”
aka “Mahmad Hadr Mahmad
Shakir,”

Defendant.

Shgaire (““defendant”).

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, No. CR 18-656-JFW
Plaintiff, GOVERNMENT”S POSITION REGARDING
SENTENCING
V.

Sentencing Date: April 26, 2019
VALLMOE SHQAIRE, Hearing Time: 8:30 a.m.

Plaintiff United States of America, by and through its counsel
of record, the United States Attorney for the Central District of
California and Assistant United States Attorneys Annamartine Salick
and Robyn K. Bacon, hereby files i1ts sentencing position and response
to the Presentence Report (““PSR”) and Recommendation Letter submitted

by the United States Probation Office (““USP0O””) for defendant Vallmoe
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The government concurs in the sentencing guidelines calculations
contained In the PSR but respectfully disagrees with the USPO’s
recommended sentence. The government respectfully requests that
defendant be sentenced to 16 months” imprisonment -- a sentence that
appropriately reflects the serious of defendant’s conduct,
defendant’s attack on our immigration system, and defendant’s long
and violent criminal past.

This position is based upon the attached memorandum of points
and authorities, the files and records iIn this case, and such further
evidence and argument as the Court may permit.

Dated: April 9, 2019 Respectfully submitted,

NICOLA T. HANNA
United States Attorney

PATRICK R. FITZGERALD
Assistant United States Attorney
Chief, National Security Division

/s/ Annamartine Salick
ANNAMARTINE SALICK

ROBYN K. BACON

Assistant United States Attorneys

Attorneys for Plaintiff
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
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l. INTRODUCTION

Defendant pleaded guilty to a serious offense — the unlawful
procurement of U.S. citizenship in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1425(a).
Defendant fraudulently procured citizenship by making false
statements repeatedly under oath — both in connection with his 2002
application to become a Lawful Permanent Residence (“LPR”) and iIn his
2008 naturalization application. By repeatedly lying to U.S. Citizen
and Immigration Services (“USCIS”) Officers, defendant sought to
conceal his extensive and violent criminal history iIn Israel and
attacked the immigration safeguards that are in place to protect
against persons like the defendant from entering our country.
Specifically, defendant denied that he had ever been arrested,
charged, convicted, and served a prison sentence or was a member of
an organization, when in fact, defendant was convicted and sentenced
to 10 years” imprisonment in Israel for, inter alia, being a member
of the Palestinian Liberation Organization (““PLO’”), conspiring with
others to place an improvised explosive device (“IED”) on an Israeli
bus, and assaulting persons suspected of cooperating with the
Israelis.

Defendant’s criminal conduct in Israel was egregious — he
committed numerous violent acts at the direction of an organization
engaged In terrorism. And defendant’s criminal conduct continued
upon his arrival 1In the United States. Defendant repeatedly lied
under oath to gain immigration benefits that would have been denied
to him had the truth of his criminal history been disclosed.
Following his fraudulent acquisition of U.S. citizenship, defendant

made additional false statements to law enforcement officers and
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engaged In a criminal scheme that ultimately resulted

defendant’s persistent disregard for the rule of law,

Page ID #:1159

in defendant

pleading guilty to three counts of felony grand theft.

To adequately address the serious of defendant’s conduct and

respectfully asks this Court to sentence defendant to 16 months~’
imprisonment — the maximum sentence available under the applicable

guidelines calculation.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. DEFENDANT BECOMES A UNITED STATES CITIZEN BY REPEATEDLY
MAKING FALSE STATEMENTS UNDER OATH

Defendant, a Jordanian citizen, First came to the United States

B-2 visitor’s visa on September 24, 1999. (PSR 1Y 34, 9).

5, 2002, defendant filed an application to become an LPR via an
1-485 Form. As part of the application, defendant declared under
penalty of perjury that the application and evidence submitted is

true and correct.” Defendant made the following statements that

later determined to be false:

Question: List your present and past membership in or
affiliation with every political organization, association,
fund, foundation, party, club, society or similar group in
the United States or in other places since your 16th
birthday.

Answer: None

Question: Have you ever, in or outside the U.S. been
arrested, cited, charged, indicted, fined or imprisoned for
breaking or violating any law or ordinance, excluding
traffic violations?

Answer: No.

Question 4: Have you ever engaged in, conspired to engage
in, or do you intend to engage in, or have you ever
solicited membership or funds for, or have you through any

means ever assisted or provided any time of material
2

the government
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support to any person or organization that has ever engaged
or conspired to engage in sabotage, kidnapping, political
assassination, hijacking or any other form of terrorist
activity?

Answer: No.

On November 5, 2004, defendant was interviewed by USCIS in
connection with his LPR application. After being placed under oath
defendant repeated the statements appearing his 1-485, several of
which were false were later determined to be false.

On August 8, 2007, defendant submitted an N-400, Application for
Naturalization, and certified the application “under penalty of
perjury under the laws of the United States of America, that this
application, and all the evidence submitted with it, are all true and
correct.” In the written application, defendant made the statements
that were later determined to be false:

Question: Have you ever! been a member of or associated with
any organization, association, fund, foundation, party,
club, society or similar group in the United States or any
other place?

Answer: No.

Question: Have you ever been a member of or in any way
associated (either directly or indirectly) with: A
terrorist organization.

Answer: No

Question: Have you ever advocated (either directly or
indirectly) the overthrow of any government by force or
violence?

Answer: No.

Question: Have you ever persecuted (either directly or
indirectly any person because of race, religion, national
origin, membership in a particular social group or
political opinion.

Answer: No.

Question: Have you ever been arrested, cited or detained by

1 Emphasis in original
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any law enforcement officer . . . fTor any reason?
Answer: No.

Question: Have you ever been charged with committing any
crime or offense?
Answer: No.

Question: Have you ever been convicted of a crime or
offense?
Answer: No

Question: Have you ever been iIn jail or prison?
Answer: No

Question: Have you ever given false or misleading
information to any U.S. government official while applying
for any immigration benefit or to prevent deportation,
exclusion or removal?

Answer: No

Question: Have you ever lied to any U.S. government
official to gain entry or admission into the United States?
Answer: No

On October 7, 2008, USCIS interviewed defendant iIn connection
with his N-400 Application. Defendant was placed under oath and
swore or affirmed under “penalty of perjury” that contents of the
application, any documents submitted with the application, and any
additional answers “are true and correct to the best of my knowledge
and belief.” During the interview, defendant made the following
statements later determined to be false:

Question “9”: Have you ever been a member of or associated
with any organization, association, fund, foundation,
party, club, society or similar group in the United States
or In any other place?

Answer: ‘“States no.”

Question “11”: which appears to be a combination of the
preceding subsections (have you ever been arrested,
charged, convicted, or served in jail or prison),
Answer: ‘“States no arrests or court.”

Question “12”: “have you ever lied to any U.S. government
official to gain entry or admission into the United States”
4
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Answer” ‘“States no”
Defendant’s application to become a naturalized U.S. citizen was

approved and on November 6, 2008, defendant took an oath and was
awarded a certificate of naturalized citizenship.

B. COURT RECORDS FROM ISRAEL SHOW THAT DEFENDANT MADE MATERIAL

FALSE STATEMENTS UNDER OATH

In response Mutual Legal Assistant Treaty requests, the
government of Israel provided certified court records showing that
defendant was convicted of serious, violent felonies and terrorist
acts in the late 1980s and early 1990s.

According the certified court records Israel provided, defendant
was arrested twice: once in 1988 and again in 1990.2 (See Exhibit
A) .3 According to the certified indictment Israeli provided,
defendant was charged in a five-count indictment for his role in a
December 19, 1988 incident in which the defendant, acting on the
direction of the PLO’s “Shabiba cell,”* and another man constructed
an IED and placed it on a bus used by Israelis. (See Exhibit B).
Specifically, the Israeli Indictment charged defendant with:

(1) membership in an unlawful organization, to wit, the “Shabiba”
cell of the PLO; (2) activity directed against public order;
(3) iIncitement and hostile propaganda; (4) placing a bomb (IED) on an

Israeli bus with the intent to cause death or harm; and (5) activity

2 The Israelis fTingerprinted defendant at his arrest and
provided those records to the government. The Homeland Security
Investigations Forensic Laboratory compared defendant’s Israeli
fingerprint card with fingerprints obtained from defendant during his
2010 arrest and determined that they belong to the same individual.

3 The exhibits referenced herein contain both the Hebrew-
language certified court records Israel provided and the English-
language certified translations.

4 “Shabiba” meaning “youth” In Arabic, i1s transliterated in
English as both “Shabiba” and ‘“Shabeba.”
5
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against public order, specifically assaulting persons suspected of
cooperating with the Israelis. (Id.).

Defendant was convicted on October 23, 1991 and was sentenced to
10 years” imprisonment. (See Exhibit C). The sentencing memorandum
defendant’s counsel submitted to request leniency shows that
defendant admitted his conduct as charged in the indictment, but
claimed not to be the “initiator” and that “no damage was caused as a
result of [placing the IED on the bus].” (See Exhibit D at 3-4).

According to the sentence and judgment order, the court
explained the lengthy sentencing, finding:

[Defendant”s] activities started in the year 1988, and
since then, he acted continually within the framework of
the organization. This iIs not a one time, opportunist
activity, rather continuous and varied activities . . . It
seems that [defendant’s] participation in this terrorist
act [conspiring to place the IED on the bus] places him at
a very serious level of a terrorist act. The
characteristics of the attack, i1ts cleverness, and the
target chosen, demonstrate that the accused adopted the
catastrophic terrorist act.

(Id. at 7-8).

According to a 1992 appellate order, defendant appealed his
sentence and the appellate court upheld the original 10-year
sentence but reduced the time defendant was required to serve to
seven years. (See Exhibit F at 6). The verification of inmate
release shows that defendant served four years in prison
following his conviction on the 1990 indictment and was release
early due to special circumstances related to a prisoner
exchange between the Israeli government and the Palestinians.

(See Exhibit G).




© 00 N oo o b~ w N P

N NN N N N N N NR P R R R P B R R R
© N O O N W N RP O © © N O 00 M W N P O

Case 2:18-cr-00656-JFW Document 104 Filed 04/09/19 Page 11 of 75 Page ID #:1164

C. DEFENDANT 1S ARRESTED IN 2010 AND MAKES FALSE STATEMENTS TO
LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS

On September 15, 2010, Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department
(““LASD”) deputies arrested defendant on felony grand theft charges.
Following his arrest, LASD deputies interviewed defendant. Defendant
was advised of his Miranda rights, waived them, and admitted that he
was a member of “Fatah” and that he had been arrested on two
occasions iIn Israel in the late 1980s. However, defendant falsely
stated that he was arrested for taking part in demonstrations, not
for the violent, terrorist acts he pleaded guilty to, and claimed
that he did not remember if he disclosed the arrests or his
associations to USCIS.

The County of Los Angeles charged defendant with six counts of
felony grand theft, in violation of California Penal Code 8 487(a).
Following guilty pleas to three counts on June 29, 2011, defendant
was sentenced to a suspended, five-year sentence, 120 days~’
incarceration, and a five-year term of probation.

D. THE PLO, FATAH, AND THE SHABIBA YOUTH MOVEMENT

Dr. Matthew Levitt, an expert in the Israeli-Palestinian
conflict and Middle East terrorist organizations, authored an expert
report in connection with this case that provides: (1) a brief
history of the PLO, Fatah, and the Shabiba Youth Movement;

(2) describes the goals and tactics used by the PLO, Fatah, and the
Shabiba Youth movement; (3) details and how the U.S. Government

classified and related to the PLO and Fatah. (See Exhibit H).5

5 Exhibit H Is a redacted version of Dr. Levitt’s expert report
that remove personally identifying information regarding his
education and background. An unreacted version of the report and his

-




© 00 N oo o b~ w N P

N NN N N N N N NR P R R R P B R R R
© N O M W N P O © ©® N O 00 M W N B O

Case 2:18-cr-00656-JFW Document 104 Filed 04/09/19 Page 12 of 75 Page ID #:1165

According to Dr. Levitt’s report, the PLO is a political entity
dedicated to the liberation of Palestine through violent, armed
struggle. (Id. at 6). Founded in 1964, the PLO began carrying out
attacks targeting Israelis civilians and security forces following
Israel’s military victory in the 1967 Six Day War. (ld. at 7). The
PLO operated a violent, terrorist campaign from 1967 through the
early 2000s. (l1d.).

The PLO is an umbrella organization that includes a wide-range
of secular and religious factions and i1deologies. In the late 1960s,
Fatah emerged as the largest and most significant of the PLO
constituent groups. (Id. at 7). Fatah’s Shabiba youth movement
emerged as a “local iInitiate” that operated in the Palestinian
territories at the direction of Fatah after Fatah’s leadership was
exiled In Tunis iIn the 1980s. (Id. at 11). The Shabiba youth
movement “played a central role” i1n the Palestinian resistance,
engaging in social, political, and violent forms of resistance
against Israel in the 1980s. (ld. at 13).

Throughout the 1980s and 1990s, the PLO and its member
organizations carried out hundreds of terrorist attacks against
Israeli and civilian targets and the PLO declared “open season” on
American diplomats in Europe. (ld. at 13). The PLO and its member
organizations used a variety of violent means to further their
political goals, including bombings, assassinations, and kidnappings.
(1d.).

In 1986, the U.S. Congress passed the Anti-Terrorism Act of 1987

and determined that the “PLO and its affiliates are terrorist

CV were previously provided to defense counsel and filed under seal
with the Court. (CR 52).
8
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organizations and a threat to the interests of the United States, its
allies, and to international law.” (Id. at 17). Although the U.S.
Department of State did not designate the PLO a Foreign Terrorist
Organization, In 2002, i1t designated Fatah’s al Agsa Martyr’s Brigade
as an FTO. (Id. at 11). The PLO continues to exist today, however,
the Palestinian Authority overtook the PLO following the Oslo Accords
in 2007 and has governed the Palestinian territories ever since.
(Id. at 15).
111. GOVERNMENT”S SENTENCING POSITION AND RECOMMENDATION

The government submits that a 16-month sentence, followed by a
three-year term of supervised release, and a $100 mandatory special
assessment, i1s sufficient, but not greater than necessary, to address
the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. 8§ 3553(a)(2).

A. Sentencing Guidelines Calculation

Pursuant to a plea agreement, the parties agreed to the

following sentencing factors, which the USPO confirmed iIn its

calculations:
Base Offense Level: 8 U.S.S.G. § 2L.2.2
Specific Offense
Characteristics: +5 U.S.S.G. 8§ 2L2.2(b)(4)(A)¢
Acceptance of Responsibility: -2 U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1(a)
Total Offense Level: 11

6 U.S.S.G. 8 2L2.2(4)(A) provides, “ITf the defendant committed
any part of the instant offense to conceal the defendant’s membership
in, or authority over, a military, paramilitary, or police
organization that was involved iIn a serious human rights offense
during the period in which the defendant was such a member or had
such authority increase by 2 levels. If the resulting offense is
less than 13, increase to level 13.” (Emphasis original).
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(PSR 99 15-24). The USPO calculated defendant’s criminal history to
be a Category Il1. (1d. 1 29). Accordingly, defendant’s advisory
guidelines range i1s 10 to 16 months” imprisonment. (PSR Y 56).

As part of the plea agreement, defendant further agreed to a
stipulation for a judicial removal order and agreed not contest his
removal from the United States to Jordan. (PSR {1 3-6). As a result
of his conviction under § 1425 conviction, defendant’s U.S.
citizenship will also be revoked.

B. Objection to the USPO’S Recommended Sentence

The USPO’s recommended sentence - 5 months” imprisonment and 5
months” home confinement — does not begin to account for the
seriousness of defendant’s conduct. Although the government provided
the USPO with a lengthy factual description of defendant’s conduct,
citing the specific investigative reports and certified court records
underlying each factual assertion, the PSR did not address the extent
and nature of defendant’s attack on our legal system. The
recommended period of incarceration, which is one-half of the
applicable guidelines” low-end calculation, fails to address
defendant’s circumvention of the immigration procedures that are iIn
place to protect persons like the defendant from entering the United
States.

Indeed, in the Recommendation Letter, the USPO describes
defendant’s conduct as lying “about having been arrest of a crime,
and about having been imprisoned there as a result.” (Recommendation
Letter at 3) (emphasis added). The USPO further credited defendant’s
“insight” into the offense, stating that defendant lied because he
“desperately wanted” to remain in the United States. (l1d.).

10
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The framing of defendant’s conduct as mere “lies” about a prior
arrest and prison sentence and a desire to remain In the United
States, iIgnores the dangerousness of defendant’s conduct. By
concealing his violent, terrorist conduct, defendant circumvented the
procedures our immigration system depends upon. Defendant deserves a
sentence at the high-end of the applicable guidelines range to
account for defendant’s serious attack on our institutions and to
deter others from abusing the safeguards that protect our national
security.

C. Nature and Circumstances of the Offense

Defendant fraudulently obtained U.S. citizenship by repeatedly
lying under oath in an effort to conceal the violent, terrorist acts
he committed and his membership In a terrorist organization.
Defendant’s attempts to minimize his conduct, claiming to have been
“very young” and to have “acted stupidly” in his interview with USPO
(PSR 1 14), only underline defendant’s lack of remorse and failure to
take responsibility for his conduct. As the Israeli sentencing court
noted, defendant’s criminal conduct was not a “one time, opportunist
activity.” (Exhibit E at 7). Rather, defendant engaged in a multi-
year campaign of violence that targeted civilians, including his own
Palestinian community members. As Dr. Levitt noted, the conduct
defendant pleaded guilty to were “typical” activities that the PLO
and Fatah’s Shabiba youth movement employed in its violent resistance
to Israel iIn the 1980s and early 1990s. (Exhibit H at 19). It was
this type of violence that led the U.S. Congress to declare that the
PLO and its affiliates were “terrorist organizations” and posed a

threat to the United States. (Id. at 17).

11
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Moreover, defendant’s criminal conduct did not end when he
arrived In the United States. Defendant abused the immigration
system, repeatedly perjuring himself under oath to conceal his
violent past. Defendant did not lie about a prior speeding ticket or
other misdemeanor; he concealed the fact that he was a terrorist.
Defendant then engaged in a fraud scheme that resulted in multiple
felony convictions. And when confronted with his criminal history
and PLO membership, defendant continued to lie to law enforcement
officers, whitewashing his violent past and PLO membership.
Accordingly, defendant’s sentence should reflect the seriousness of
defendant’s conduct and his repeated and flagrant disregard for the
rule of law.

D. History and Characteristics of the Defendant

Defendant, a 51-year old, college-educated Jordanian citizen,
who has engaged in criminal conduct for most of his life. In his
20°s and 30°s, defendant committed numerous violent offenses iIn
Israel on behalf of a terrorist organization. Upon entering the
United States, Defendant made numerous false statements to USCIS,
eventually acquiring American citizenship through deception.
Defendant then engaged in a fraud scheme that resulted in multiple
felony convictions and made false statements to law enforcement
officers when confronted with his violent past.

Defendant i1s not the type of offender who should be granted
leniency. Defendant’s criminal conduct was not an aberration. A
sentence at the high-end of defendant’s advisory guidelines will
appropriately account for defendant’s long and violent criminal

history.

12
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E. Need to Avoid Sentencing Disparities
Section 3553(a)(6) is designed to avoid disparities in
sentences between any one defendant and other defendants in other

cases and i1In other districts. United States v. Saeteurn, 504 F.3d

1175, 1181-82 (9th Cir. 2007) (noting that the purpose of
“8 3553(a)(6) was to promote national uniformity iIn sentencing
rather than uniformity among co-defendants in the same case”).

The government’s requested 16-month sentence in in line with
similar cases. In 2016, the Sixth Circuit considered a nearly
identical factual case and upheld an 18-month sentence for a 8§ 1425
conviction based on false statements a defendant made iIn connection
with her naturalization application denying prior arrests,
convictions, or imprisonment, when in fact she was Imprisoned iIn
Israel from 1969-70 for her role in a bombing of a supermarket and
the attempted bombing of a British Consulate and her membership in
the National Front for the Liberation of Palestine, a sub-group of

the PLO. United States v. Odeh, 815 F.3d 968, 983-4 (6th Cir.

2015); see also, United States v. Biheiri, 299 F. Supp. 2d 590, 610-

612 (E.D.V.A. January 21, 2004) (defendant received the maximum 12-
month sentence under the applicable guidelines for making false
statements i1n connection with his naturalization application to his
employment as a “banker and money handler” for the terrorist
organization, Hamas). By contrast, cases that resulted in low-end
sentences addressed factual situations where the defendant was not

found to have lied about engaging in violent acts. See e.g., United

States v. Damrah, 412 F_.3d 618 (6th Cir. 2005) (affirming two

months” Imprisonment and four months” home confinement sentence
following 8§ 1425 conviction for defendant’s false denial of his

13
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association with the Palestinian Islamic Jihad — a group engaged iIn
terrorism — where i1t was not alleged that defendant participated iIn
violent acts himself). In all of these cases, as a statutory
consequence of their convictions, the defendant also were stripped
of their U.S. citizenship.

Defendant in this case engaged in serious, terrorist acts and
then concealed his conduct to gain immigration benefits. Defendant
should be judged by the same rigorous standard employed by other
courts to address similar facts.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the government respectfully requests
that the Court sentence defendant to 16 months” imprisonment, a
three-year period of supervised release, and a $100 special

assessment.

14
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[Redacted text]
Case [Redacted]
Carried out [illegible]

ISRAELI DEFENSE FORCES
In the Military Court Court Case:
Ramallah Prosecution Case: 646/90 Ram.
Panel Composition Criminal Case: 2599/90

In the trial of the Military Prosecutor - the Accuser
-versus-
1. Muhammad Khadr Muhammad Shqaire, identification card 982970782, born in 1967, a resident of Ein ‘Arik, in

custody since 5/11/90.
The Accused

INDICTMENT

The above-named accused is hereby charged with committing the following offenses:

COUNT ONE
Type of offense: Membership and activity in an unlawful association, in violation of section 85 (1) (a)
of the (Emergency) Defense Regulations of 1945.
Details of the offense: ~ The above-mentioned accused, a resident of the region, since 1988, has been a member
of an unlawful association, to wit: a member in a “Shabibah” cell, which supports the
Fatah. The accused was recruited to the unlawful association by Ramzi Jamal Atallah

Shahin.
COUNT TWO
Type of offense: Activity directed against public order, in violation of section 68 of the Order

Regarding Security Provisions of 5730-1970 and section 14(a) of the Order Regarding
Rules of Responsibility for an Offense (No. 225) 5728-1968.

Details of the offense: ~ The above-mentioned accused, a resident of the region, in or about 1988-1990,
committed an act that harmed or could harm the public wellbeing and public order, to
wit: the accused, together with others, on a number of occasions, threw stones towards
IDF [Israeli Defense Forces] patrols, and in addition, during the years 1988-1990, the
accused participated in unlawful rallies and in “military marches” from the village of

Ein ‘Arik.
COUNT THREE
Type of offense: Incitement, in violation of section 7 of the Order Regarding the Prohibition of Acts of

Incitement and Hostile Propaganda Activities 5727-1967 and section 14(a) of the
Order Regarding Rules of Responsibility for an Offense (No. 225) 5728-1968.

Details of the offense:  The above-mentioned accused, a resident of the region, in or about 1988-1990, tried to
influence public opinion in a way that could harm public wellbeing and public order,
to wit: the accused, together with others, flew PLO [Palestine Liberation Organization]
flags in his village, wrote slogans in the name of Fatah on village walls, and distributed
Fatah fliers in his village.

Translator’s notes: (1) Names transliterated from Hebrew into English may have alternate spellings. (2) The numbers next to
Orders and Laws indicate the corresponding years on the Hebrew and Gregorian calendars.
USA-MLAT-000500



Case 2:18-cr-00656-JFW Document 104 Filed 04/09/19 Page 26 of 75 Page ID #:1179

LSS T# 623501

COUNT FOUR
Type of offense:

Details of the offense:

COUNT FIVE
Type of offense:

Details of the offense:

Ian Domnitz [Signature]
Military Prosecutor

Placing a bomb, in violation of section 58(b) of the (Emergency) Defense Regulations
of 1945 and section 14(a) of the Order Regarding Rules of Responsibility for an
Offense (No. 225) 5728-1968.

The above-mentioned accused, a resident of the region, in or about the month of
December 1988, placed a bomb with the intent to cause death or harm to a person and
damage to property, to wit: in the month of December 1988, the accused’s recruiter
offered to the accused to carry out a terror attack by deploying an IED [improvised
explosive device] against an Israeli bus. The accused accepted the recruiter’s offer and
prepared an IED out of an elbow pipe, match heads, electrical wires, a bulb, and a
battery.

On or about December 11, 1988, at 5:00 p.m., the accused. together with Ramzi
Shahin went out to the main road next to the village of Ein ‘Arik and placed the IED.
The accused served as the lookout for the arrival of an Israeli bus. The accused
notified Ramzi Shahin that a bus is arriving, the IED was activated, and an explosion
followed. The bus was not damaged.

Activity directed against public order, in violation of section 68 of the Order
Regarding Security Provisions of 5730-1970 and section 14(a) of the Order Regarding
Rules of Responsibility for an Offense (No. 225) 5728-1968.

The above-mentioned accused, a resident of the region, committed acts that harmed or
could harm the public wellbeing and public order, to wit:

a. The above-named accused, together with others, in or about the month of
October 1988, in the center of the village of Ein ‘Arik, assaulted, together
with others, Samih Anna because the latter was suspected of cooperating with
the [Israeli] authorities. The accused beat up Samih and Samih was even
stabbed in his stomach by one of the participants in the assault. The accused
served as a lookout for the arrival of security forces.

b. The above-named accused, together with others, in or about the month of
November 1988, threw stones at the car of the son of the mayor of Saffa
because he was suspected of cooperating with the [Israeli] authorities. As a
result, the car windows were smashed.

c. Inor about the month of May 1989, the above-named accused, together with
others, threw stones at the car of Mahmud Jabr, a resident of Ras Karkar
because he was suspected of having behaved immorally. The stones hit his
car and broke its windows.

d. In or about the month of August 1989, the above-named accused, together
with others, threw stones at the car of Ahmad Osayd, Deputy Mayor of
Ramallah, who was suspected by the accused’s cell of cooperating with “the
Jews.” The stones hit and smashed all of the car windows.

e. In or about the month of September 1990, the above-named accused, together
with others, decided to assault Jamal ‘Alayyan al-Hindi, who was suspected
of cooperating with the [Israeli] authorities. In order to accomplish this
purpose, the accused, together with others, came to the village of Naama and
recognized Jamal al-Hindi driving his car. The accused, together with others,
threw stones at Jamal’s car. The accused tried to hit Jamal. Jamal’s car was
damaged but Jamal himself managed to flee.

Lieutenant

Witnesses for the prosecution

1. 93776-7 Officer in Training Mordecai Vaknin, Judea District, Israeli National Police.
2. Transcript of arrest extension dated May 27, 1990.

Translator’s notes: (1) Names transliterated from Hebrew into English may have alternate spellings. (2) The numbers next to
Orders and Laws indicate the corresponding years on the Hebrew and Gregorian calendars.
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[Translator’s note: Pages 1 is entirely in English, except for the stamp of which reads: K/7278583 Captain Adi Yaccobi,

Military Prosecutor]

[Page 2]

[Barcode]

File Number
Warehouse Street House Apartment
56 3 B/2[2] 30

File Marker

09/7964
Request No. Date Rehabilitation File
201704232 06/08/17 0

Name of Requestor: Meir, Nofer

[Several illegible headings and entries]

Panel

Security Classification

e 4697/90

MILITARY COURT [TEXT CUT OFF]

[TEXT CUT OFF] LOCATED IN:

IN THE TRIAL:-
The Military Prosecutor (Plenum) - the accuser
against
THE ACCUSED
FAMILY NAME FIRST NAME PROFESSION ADDRESS AGE
1 | MUHAMMAD KHADR | MUHAMMAD SHQAIRE EIN ‘ARIK
2 [lllegible]
3
4 SECURITY OFFICE
5 IDF ARCHIVES
6 AND SECURITY SYSTEM
7
3 Shipping Number 206/95
9 Case Number: 1873
10 (Closed) |
PERSONAL No. | RANK FAMILY NAME FIRST NAME CORPS UNIT ROLE
CHAIRMAN
PROSECUTOR
DATE OF
JUDGMENT 10/23/91
DETAILS OF THE CHARGE SENTENCE
hﬂnmlr\f\vnlf\:n 1) ~ ¥y f\l‘\r\f\f\lﬁ“‘lf\lﬂ
vietmoersnrpmMmanassotiation 10 years imprisonment
Incitement

In custody since 5/11/90

Translator’s notes: (1) Names transliterated from Hebrew into English may have alternate spellings.
(2) While the printed text is visible, many of the handwritten entries on the pages are illegible due to the quality of the copies provided for translation.
(3) Handwritten entries are shown as italicized.
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[Page 4]
In the Military Court Court [Case]: 4697/90
Ramallah. Prosecution Case: 646/90 Ram.

Criminal Case: 2599/90

In a trial between the Military Prosecutor —the Accuser
-versus-
Muhammad Khadr Muhammad Shqaire
Identity Document (982970782), a resident of Ein ‘ Arik/Ramallah
Represented by Counsel A. Gozlan, Esq.
Isfahani St. 15, Jerusalem
Tel.: 894737

Summaries in Writing by the Defense Counsel

The Defense Counsel respectfully submits written summaries regarding the punishment in this case;
below is a detailing of the circumstances and arguments:-

1) The accused is charged with the offense of membership in “Shabibah” [*Youth’ in Arabic] since
’88 and activities consisting of his participation in unlawful gatherings and marches as well as
incitement, hanging of flags, writing of slogans, and distribution of leaflets. In addition to the
aforementioned, he is charged with the offense of the activity in count 5, and the main part of the
counts is the fourth count, the nature of which is the placement of a bomb.

2) Regarding the offenses attributed in counts 1, 2, 3, and 5, I would like to note that we are
discussing the offenses of disturbance of public peace; the accused was not the initiator, he was
drawn in [against his will], as is the same regarding count 4. In this case, the accused was also
drawn in [against his will]; he was not the initiator; he was under the influence of others.

3) In all of the cases described in count 5, the cars were parked.
Regarding Section A — I refer to the statement, page 2, line 20.
Regarding Section C — I refer to page 3, line 1.

Regarding Section D — I refer to page 3, lines 6, 7.

Regarding Section E — I refer to page 3, line 13.

He stopped Jamal, we tried to beat him, but he
overcame us and fled.

4) Regarding Count 4
The following facts must be taken into consideration.
A. The accused has no connection to the matter of the production of the bomb.
B. The accused was requested by his recruiter to participate in the offense described in the fourth
count and he was told that he needs to participate in its execution in order to clear his name
(see: Statement of the Accused, page 1, lines 20, 21; see also: line 14 from the same page).

C. The role of the Accused was [someone who gives a warning (a lookout). ]
D. No damage was caused as a result of the act.
.. (2
[Page 5]

Translator’s notes: (1) Names transliterated from Hebrew into English may have alternate spellings.
(2) While the printed text is visible, many of the handwritten entries on the pages are illegible due to the quality of the copies provided for translation.

(3) Handwritten entries are shown as italicized.
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5) The level of the punishment appropriate for this case can be learned through a number of
precedents that I would like to note and attach to the amounts:-

A) Case 4808/91 The accused received 7 years, of which 4 years were imprisonment; the case
was concluded on 9/26/91 in the Military Court in Ramallah.

B) Case 4750/91 The accused received 35 months imprisonment; the case was concluded on
9/26/91 in the Military Court in Ramallah.

C) Case 7837/89 Accused No. 1 was the responsible initiator, he produced more than 20
improvised detonators and a large portion of them were sent to different cells, membership,
threats, throwing a bomb, failure to prevent an offense, attempting to provide assistance, an
activity against the public order, an activity against the public order [sic].

(The case concluded in Nablus), the accused received 4'2 years imprisonment.

D) Case 2284/91 Concluded in Hebron, the accused received 8 years, 5 of which were
imprisonment.

E) Case 2282/91 Concluded in Hebron, the accused received 3 years imprisonment and 3 years
on condition.

F) Case 1057/91 Concluded in Hebron, the accused received 8 years, 5 of which were
imprisonment.

G) Case 1292/90 The accused received 4 years imprisonment.

H) Case 1171/90 The accused received 3 years imprisonment, concluded in Hebron.

In light of everything said, I will ask for your consideration regarding the circumstances and arguments as
well as the precedents, and to lighten the Accused’s punishment and especially due to his situation in his
village and the rumors against him in his village and that they exerted influence upon him.

Signature]
A. Gozlan, Esq.

Representative of the Accused

[[legible stamp]

Translator’s notes: (1) Names transliterated from Hebrew into English may have alternate spellings.
(2) While the printed text is visible, many of the handwritten entries on the pages are illegible due to the quality of the copies provided for translation.
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[Tllegible] [ ] [Case No. 4697/90]

Page Number

Sentence

The accused, Muhammad Khadr Muhammad Shqaire, born in 1967, was accused of the
offenses of membership in a prohibited association, activity against the public order, incitement,
placement of an explosive object; also attributed to him was section [illegible] regarding an
activity against the public order (Count 5), however, this section includes five separate events,
as detailed below.
In a hearing on Aug. 4, ‘91, the Defense Counsel, Atty. Gozlan, referenced the indictment and
raised his comments regarding the fact that the vehicles were parked with [illegible] and also
changed of the type of offense in Count 4 from placement of a bomb to placement of an
explosive object.
[lllegible], the Prosecution stated that the Defense Counsel’s comments, except those related to
sub-section D of Count 5, were acceptable.
Following the Prosecutor’s statement, the accused pleads guilty subsequent to the Prosecutor’s
statement, and he was convicted accordingly.
In a hearing on Oct. 16, 91, the two sides declared that [illegible] to punishment. The
Prosecutor spoke orally whereas the Defense Counsel, [illegible], requested to submit his
summaries in writing.
The Military Prosecutor referred, in his summaries, to a number of court judgments that
demonstrate, in his opinion, the appropriate level of punishment to sentence our accused.
In his summaries, the Defense Counsel noted all of the justifications for [illegible] the accused’s

act. Before [illegible].
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[Mlegible] [ ] [Case No. 4697/90]
Page Number

Let us note that the Defense Counsel, Atty. Gozlan, who stands by the [belief] that the essence

of the offense in Count 4 should be amended and that instead of ‘placement of a bomb,’ it

should be ‘placement of an explosive object,” which he justified in his summaries, [illegible], a

bomb ([illegible] sections 1 and 4 of the summaries [illegible]) and this fact will not tip the scales

in either direction, and in our case, the details of the offense to which the accused pled guilty

and was convicted will guide our consideration for sentencing.

In his summaries, the Defense Counsel emphasized that the accused was not the initiator,

rather he was brought in by others, without relating to Count 4, whereas the motive was to clear

the accused’s name, to the extent that it relates to an event where the accused was used as a

lookout and did not cause any damage.

Regarding Count 5, the Defense Counsel stated that the cars were parked, and as such, the

severity of the offense is less.

The accused'’s activities started in the year 1988, and since then, he acted continually within the

framework of the organization. This is not a one time, opportunistic activity, rather, continuous

and varied activities that consisted of incitement activity and even violent activity, including

throwing stones at IDF [Israeli Defense Forces] patrols.

In Count 5, a number of different events were detailed, based upon this text of the indictment,

[illegible] raised [illegible] and we have no choice but to express amazement as to why no

damage was caused by this improper behavior.

The accused'’s activity described in Count 5 is of the highest order of severity. We accept the

Defense Counsel’s comments [illegible] the Prosecutor, with the exception of [illegible].
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He went with another person to the main road where the IED was placed; the accused served
as a lookout for the arrival of a bus and the accused notified of the arrival of the bus; the IED
was activated, which exploded, but it did not cause any damage.
It seems that the accused’s participation in this terrorist attack places him at a very serious level
of a terrorist act. The characteristics of the attack, its cleverness, and the target chosen,
demonstrates that the accused adopted the catastrophic terrorist path. This is not a simple act
of sabotage.
Indeed, from the indictment, one learns that the accused served as a lookout, however, within
the scope of this case, this should not be seen as a circumstance that lighten the nature of the
act; one of the participants must serve as a lookout, and if the accused was chosen as such,
this teaches us nothing regarding his criminal intentions or whether he wanted to play an
intellectual role in this act. At this time, it can be said that it begins with a crime and it ends with
a crime. The accused committed [illegible] to participate in the terrorist attack. He prepared the
explosive object, they placed it in a designated location, and did not leave the location until the
act was committed as far as he was concerned, even if the desired result was not achieved.
There are additional serious aspects to this act. This is a terrorist attack along the main road
that became their target. It cannot be [illegible] in each and every way. Even though the bus was
not rented, if the bus was carrying passengers, and it is common for a bus to carry passengers,
and even if we suppose, for the benefit of the accused, that the bus was empty of passengers,
this was a bus that was traveling with a driver, one can imagine what might have happened as a

result, had the accused’s intentions been realized.
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Page Number

After all, in the rest of the cases, the vehicles were parked, but still, we are discussing throwing
of stones that caused substantial damage.
We cannot say for certain that the accused was satisfied with throwing stones only towards
parked cars. As we mentioned above, in one of the cases, the car was driving and in another
case, the car was driving until it was stopped by the accused and his friends, and then they
threw stones at the car, and even tried to harm the vehicle’s driver.
The Defense Counsel, in his summaries, referred to the accused'’s statements for some reason,
however, they were not submitted and they were not received as evidence, and as such, we
cannot refer to them.
If the Defense Counsel wanted the Court to rely upon what is written in the statements, he
would have had to submit them as evidence or instead, put the accused on the stand.
Avoiding placing the witness on the stand prevents the Court from referring both to the claim
that the accused'’s participation in the terrorist attack, the subject of Count 4, was “to clean his
name,” and this is a claim that is heard for the first time in the Defense Counsel’s summaries for
the punishment. In the indictment, there is no reference to such. The Defense Counsel’s
comments regarding this Count was one and only: that we change the type of offense. What
brings the well-versed Defense Counselor, Atty. Gozlan, to raise the subject of motive is not
relevant to the matter of conviction [illegible] in the details of the offense, including [illegible] that
the accused pled guilty and not only did he plead guilty, but that they are relevant acts in terms
of the punishment.
Here, in the details of the offense, it is stated that the accused agreed to the request of his
recruiter to carry out a terrorist attack by deploying an IED against an Israeli bus. The accused

stated [illegible] prepared the IED and the time and date it would be set.
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The Prosecutor requested to rely upon a number of judgments in which the accused was
sentenced to severe punishments. We have read those judgments and found them different
from the essence of our case, in that, in those cases, damage was caused to life ([lllegible]
102/88), in other cases, they were acts with other severe circumstances that include the
recruitment of [illegible] in Syria or the placement of a number of IEDs.
The Defense Counsel referred to a number of precedents; we read some of them (which were
available to us) and we found that [illegible] of the cases were different from our case.
In Case 4750/91, the accused was not charged with the placement of an explosive object, and
Molotov cocktails were thrown at a store.
In Case 2284/91, the accused was charged with many serious offenses with an indictment
adjusted in a substantial manner. The accused was still charged with serious offenses and as
such, it is obvious to us, with due respect to the Military Court in Hebron, the sentence given to
the accused is extremely light. We believe that we are not asking for a sentence that is not in
accordance with the crime committed.
The circumstances of Case 2882/91 are different from those in our case, both in the essence of
the offenses for which the accused was convicted, as well as the circumstances of [illegible]
(fillegible]).
After we have weighed all of the circumstances, we hereby sentence the accused to ten
consecutive years of imprisonment.

Notified today, 10/23/91, [illegible].

[Signature]  [Signature]  [Signature]
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[Pages 7 through 15] Translator’s note: Due to the handwriting and quality of the copy provided for
translation, the majority of the handwritten pages are illegible and in many cases, complete sentences
cannot be formed. These pages include procedural notes, often times requesting the postponement of
hearings.

[Pages 15-20] Translator’s note: Judgment. Will be issued in a separate translation.

[Page 21 — Summary translation]

[ ]

Security Classification
Court of

MINUTES | Page No. 5 | Case Number 531/91/ ‘A [v]

Judgment

The Appellant before us was convicted in a series of offenses concerning membership in
Fatah, activities against the public peace, in that on a number of occasions, he threw stones
toward IDF [Israeli Defense Forces] patrols and, in addition, participated in illegal gatherings
and military parades, incitement, hanging of [illegible] flags in his village and writing of slogans
and distributing flyers belonging to Fatah and the placement of an explosive package and in
the preparation and placement of the package [with another person] and that he was used as
someone who gave a warning [a lookout] in order to notify when to activate the explosive
package and indeed, in the fifth charge, an activity against the public order, consisting of five
separate events of beating and throwing stones on others suspected of cooperating with the
[Israeli] authorities.
Because of his actions, the Appellant was sentenced to 10 years imprisonment, and this
appeal is against the seriousness of the punishment.
In his petition to lighten the punishment of the Appellant, his Defense Counsel claimed before
us that the lower court neglected to, or instead did not properly evaluate, the seriousness of the
actions, indeed, the main part of the indictment consists of the offenses of disturbing the public
peace, as well as the more serious offense of placing the explosive; this is not the type of
serious offenses for which one must sentence such heavy penalties, indeed, every [several
words illegible] which does not represent a real risk, despite the fact that its detonation did not
cause any damage to the car [illegible].
The Defense Counsel also requested that the Appellant be brought to trial as someone who
only gave a warning, that he was influenced, and brought into the action [against his will] by
another individual.

Form 3670 Military Catalogue 441172036
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[Page 22 — Summary translation]
[ ]

Security Classification
Court of

MINUTES | Page No. 6 | Case Number 531/91/ ‘A [v]

The Defense Counsel also claimed that the lower court disregarded his clean past, his
admission of guilt, the fact that the accused committed the offenses in the year ‘88 and in fact,

three years passed before he was brought to trial.

Indeed, also, the lower court, according to the Defense Counsel’s claim, did not set the
[illegible] of the time period of the imprisonment to which the accused was sentenced as
conditional imprisonment. In response to the appeal, the Prosecutor requested to adjourn the
appeal and this, in pointing to the excessive severity of the offense described in the fourth
indictment, which is the placement of the explosive material, and emphasized the Appellant’s
role as someone who gave a warning, that his role [was] to notify of the moment when an
Israeli car, which would be used as the target of an attack, would pass by; indeed, the
Prosecutor stated before us that even if [illegible] was to sentence a punishment of conditional
imprisonment, that it must be added to the punishment of imprisonment to which the Appellant

was sentenced.

We have weighed all of the circumstances, and indeed we have found that the lower court
made matters worse on the Appellant by sentencing him to 10 years of imprisonment; we have
found that the lower court indeed did not give the appropriate consideration for the duration of
time that has passed from the date on which the offense took place and until he was brought to
trial for the fact; that indeed, the placement of the explosive constitutes an exception to the
Appellant’s general activities, which is severe in and of itself, but at its heart, is constitutes the
offense of disturbance of the peace, and as such, sentencing him to a punishment of such a
long period of time without [illegible] for an offense that does not give the Appellant the
possibility to prove himself that he indeed learned the appropriate lesson from his time in
imprisonment to which he was sentenced; indeed, there are additional circumstances to the
credit of the accused as well as his clean past, his admission of guilt, and the fact that he was

not the initiator of the activity of the placement of the explosive.

Form 3670 Military Catalogue 441172036
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[Page 23 — Summary translation]
[ ]

Security Classification
Court of

MINUTES | Page No. -7- | Case Number 531/91/ ‘A [¥]

As such, we have ruled to accept the appeal and to sentence the Appellant to 10 years
imprisonment, of which 7 of those years shall be imprisonment, and the remainder shall be on
condition for 5 years from the day of his release. The condition is that the Appellant shall not

commit offenses similar to those for which he was convicted in this case.
Issued and notified publically and in the presence of both parties. Today, 8.31.92.

[Signature] [Signature] [Signature]
Judge Presiding Judge Judge

Form 3670 Military Catalogue 441172036
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[Logo: Israel Prison Service] . .
Israel Prison Service Verification of Inmate’s Release
Prison: 999 from Prison
Inactive
[Barcode]
Issued on: 10/27/13
1031118 1 98297078 2 Shqaire Muhammad Khadr Fathiyya
Inmate No. Identification No.  Family Name First Name Father’s Name Mother’s Name

We hereby confirm that the inmate whose information is listed above has stayed in the prison and was
duly released pursuant to the order as detailed below:

Date of last release: 5/4/94

Remarks:
Resp?CtUI Iy: ) . Inmate Department Record
Heftziba Tsfaty Information Officer [Signature]
Verifier’s Name Verifier’s Title Signature and Stamp
Admission Date Admitted Starting Date ~ Release Date Reason for Prison Sentence
Number to Prison Service Release Period
1 5.11.1990 5.11.1990 5.4.1994 Special Early Hebron-Old 07-00-0000
Release by
-End of Record-

=

= Please note, fees will be charged for obtaining an

e -y - -

S additional copy of the stay verification.

Translator’s note: Names transliterated from Hebrew into English may have alternate spellings.
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United States District Court
Central District of California

-—-=X
United States of America -
Case No. CR18-00656-JFW
Plaintiff,
aya
Vallmoe Shqaire,

Defendant. .
— X

EXPERT REPORT OF DR. MATTHEW LEVITT

I. Scope of Engagement

I have been asked to provide expert opinion on the following issues and their implications
for this case:

» A brief history of the Palestine Liberation Organization (PLO), Fatah, the Shabiba
movement, and the Israeli-Palestinian conflict;

» Background on Fatah’s Shabiba youth arm;

» Goals and tactics of the PLO, Fatah, the Shabiba movement in the 1980s and Onward;

« How the United States Government classified and related to the PLO in the 1980s.

II. Qualifications

My qualifications as a noted expert in international terrorism, with a focus on Middle
East terrorist groups and particular expertise in their logistical and financial support networks, are
based on a multidisciplinary combination of my academic education, professional training and
experience.
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occupied territories. Despite the fact that it was a local political initiative, it soon became an
important player, tipping the scales in favor of Fatah's leadership in exile and changing Palestinian
society within the occupied territories. Al-Shabiba became the organizational avenue for young
Palestinians who were from lower social classes or were refugees to gain influence over political
developments. In this sense, the relationship between al-Shabiba and the external Fatah leadership
was reciprocal though not equal.*

Other scholars have tracked the Shabiba back several years earlier, to the 1970s. According
to Zeev Schiff and Ehud Yaari, Fatah had since at least 1979 focused on building what it termed
“popular organizations” in the Palestinian territories, “with pride of place going to the Shabiba.™!
In fact, Shabiba youth clubs were founded at different times in different local communities. In the
Balata refugee camp, for example, the Shabiba was founded in 1982. Largely comprised of
students from the two local colleges in Nablus, they quickly became the dominant force in town.
Schiff and Yaari document how “members of the [Shabiba] movement’s rank and file patrolled
the camp’s alleyways at night, usually masked and sometimes armed with iron chains to leave no
doubt about their sway. They forced whole families to leave Balata in shame because their sons
were suspected of collaborating with the [Israeli] Shin Bet [security service].*

Israel banned the PLO’s National Guidance Committee in March 1982, sparking a move
toward empowering local public figures as de facto PLO representatives in the West Bank and
Gaza Strip. Israel was trying to be tolerant of non-violent political action on the part of
Palestinians, which gave these activists space to operate. In response to PLO terrorism, in 1985-
1986 Israeli authorities detained or deported officials from many PLO-affiliated institutions. The
vacuum created by the removal of these leaders from the scene opened the way for younger
activists in what were effectively semi-legal entities that operated in parallel to the clandestine
PLO organizations that were being targeted. “It was in this period,” Professor Yezid Sayigh
explains, “that Fateh’s al-Shabiba (Youth Movement), the PFLP’s [Popular Front for the
Liberation of Palestine’s] Jabhat al-Amal (Action Front), DFLP’s [Democratic Front for the
Liberation of Palestine’s] al-Widha (Unity), and PCP [Palestine Communist Party]-backed
agriculture and medical relief committees expanded most rapidly and gained valuable
experience.”?

About a month before the outbreak of the first Intifada in late 1987, Israeli forces entered
Balata “to break the hold of the Shabiba.” Once the Intifada broke out, Shabiba leaders from Balata
who had not been arrested published a handbill calling on average Palestinians to support violent
resistance: “every household can contribute gas, boiling water, and stones; the craven soldiers can
be hit from every rooftop.”* But despite a grown in the ranks of the Shabiba in the months leading
up to the first Intifada, Israeli security forces seemed to have thoroughly penetrated the movement

0 Amal Jamal, The Palestinian National Movement: Politics of Contention, 1967-2005 (Indiana University Press,
2005), 73

31 Zeev Schiff and Ehud Yaari, Intifada: The Inside Story of the Palestinian Uprising that Changed the Middle East
Eguation (New York: Touchstone, 1989), 203

32 Zeev Schiff and Ehud Yaari, Intifada: The Inside Story of the Palestinian Uprising that Changed the Middle East
Equation (New York: Touchstone, 1989), 60

 Yezid Sayigh, Armed Struggle and the Search for State: the Palestinian National Movement, 1949-1993 (Oxford:
Oxford University Press, 1997), 610
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